European Union Enlargement

– Can it be a Win-Win situation?

A report from demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy



We care for Europe

By Janis A. Emmanouilidis, Bolesław Woźniak and Paweł Świeboda



# European Union Enlargement – Can it be a Win-Win situation?

### Written by:

Janis A. Emmanouilidis, Center for Applied Policy Research (CAP), Munich Bolesław Woźniak, demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy, Warsaw

and

Paweł Świeboda, Director, demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy, Warsaw

Cover Design: Natalia Kulka
DTP: Robert Janusz, Erjot Studio
Print: Offset-Print Printing House
© Copyright by demosEUROPA – the Centre for European Strategy, Warsaw, December 2006
Copyright of this publication is held by demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy. You may not copy, reproduce, republish or circulate in any way the content from this publication except for your own personal and non-commercial use. Any other use requires the prior written permission of demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy.

## Contents

Background note	4
Adverse political and economic cycle in the EU	4
Fear of "overstretching" the Union	5
Uneven public support in the current EU members	5
Insufficient communication	6
The Turkish question	6
RECOMMENDATIONS	7
<ol> <li>Openness to enlarge beyond an EU-27 – but no additional accession perspectives before a review in 2010.</li> </ol>	7
2. Make the EU a success story and get the EU ready for further enlargements	8
3. Insist on "constructive ambiguity" concerning both Europe's boundaries and the time-frame for further enlargements	9
4. Win the hearts and minds of the public opinion for enlargement	10
5. Candidate countries must be attractive	11
6. Learn the lessons of former candidate countries	12
7. Exploit all potentials for cooperation	13
8. Don't succumb to frustration	14

### **Background note:**

The accession of Bulgaria and Romania to the European Union (EU) on January 1, 2007, completes the fifth wave of EU enlargement initiated in May 2004. The next countries waiting in line are Croatia, Turkey (both engaged in EU accession talks since October 2005) and the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia – all three have been attributed the official status of a candidate country. A second category of "potential candidates" includes Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Serbia, and Kosovo (once the conundrum of its future status has been resolved). The EU has repeatedly given these countries of the Western Balkans a clear membership perspective. Another group consists of those countries covered by the European Neighbourhood Policy, which unilaterally declare their EU aspirations and due to their geography, culture and history have a justified reason to do so – Ukraine, Moldova and Georgia. The final group, which should be taken into the equation, includes Belarus and the two remaining Caucasus countries, Armenia and Azerbaijan. The EFTA members – Iceland, Lichtenstein, Norway and Switzerland – could easily be thought of as potential EU members.

On November 8, 2006, the European Commission released the so-called "enlargement package" consisting of the EU Enlargement Strategy, an annexed report on the Union's integration capacity and a series of individual national Progress Reports. The EU Enlargement Strategy is characterized by a reluctance to undertake any new commitments coupled with a simultaneous appeal to deliver the promises that have been made so far.

The European Council will hold a debate on enlargement at its meeting on December 15-16, 2006. There are increasing doubts concerning the future of the enlargement process. Why is this so? There may well be as many answers as politicians and analysts dealing with the subject, but at least five factors are universally perceived as relevant.

#### Adverse political and economic cycle in the EU

The political climate in the European Union and in its member states is characterised by limited optimism about future developments. Whatever the hierarchy of reasons behind the rejection of the Constitutional Treaty in the Netherlands and France, there was undoubtedly an ingredient of reluctance towards further EU enlargement. Moreover, the performance of the core eurozone economies has been rather weak and the vision of soaring

unemployment rates and the "relocation" of workplaces to Eastern Europe has added fuel to these fears.

Another important aspect has to do with a lack of leadership in Europe, which would be strong enough to communicate the benefits of enlargement to the public opinion. It remains to be seen what next year's change in power in two key EU member states, the United Kingdom and France will bring in this respect.

#### Fear of "overstretching" the Union

The question of "deepening vs. enlarging" is a constant feature of European debates. There are forces inside the Union, which favour a more federalist approach and are thus reluctant to further enlargement, and there are those which support a vision of an EU open to all European countries meeting the defined conditions irrespective of the Union's actual ability to absorb new members. The Commission's definition of the EU's "integration capacity" lists three aspects, which need to be taken into account if the enlarging Union wants to maintain its integration momentum: institutions, budget and community

policies.<sup>1</sup> Over the last decades the accession of new members and the continuation of political integration have by and large gone hand in hand. Some now fear that new rounds of enlargement will in effect prevent a further deepening of the integration process.

#### Uneven public support in the current EU members

After the failure to ratify the Constitutional Treaty, decision-makers in the EU member states are more than ever cautious to pursue European policies which lack a clear public mandate. The picture concerning EU enlargement is mixed. According to the Eurobarometer poll from July 2006<sup>2</sup>, public opinion is rather divided on how to proceed with the enlargement process. While in the new member states and in the acceding countries the answer would be a strong "yes", among the old EU-15 only in Spain, Greece and Denmark most of the citizens support an accession of new member states beyond an EU-25. And over 60 per cent of Germans, French and Austrians are even fundamentally opposed to further EU enlargement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EU Enlargement Strategy and Main Challenges 2006-2007 including annexed special report on the EU's capacity to integrate new members: http://ec.europa.eu/enlargement/pdf/key\_documents/2006/Nov/com\_649\_strategy\_paper\_en.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Attitudes towards European Union Enlargement, Eurobarometer July 2006. http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/archives/ebs/ebs\_255\_en.pdf

#### Insufficient communication

68 percent of European citizens feel that they are not well informed about EU enlargement.<sup>3</sup> The European Commission holds that the need to address this shortcoming should be a priority, although the burden of providing clear, factual information rests also on other EU institutions, notably the European Parliament, and on the member states. It appears that the general political idea behind enlargement is understood and accepted by the public. What is missing, however, is information concerning the economic and social benefits of the process. By and large, enlargement is widely perceived as being unilaterally beneficial for the new entrants on the expense of the old EU member states.

#### The Turkish question

The potential accession of Turkey to the EU merits to be treated separately. Unlike in the case of other countries aspiring to join the EU – with the notable exception of Ukraine – Turkey would probably profoundly transform the very foundations of the Union. Because of its size, culture, religion, low GDP per capita and geostrategic location, the Turkish case can hardly be compared with any other EU candidate

country. There are strong and vociferous opponents of Turkish membership in certain member states and European political circles. On the other side there are those who perceive Turkey's accession to the EU as a strategic opportunity for both sides. The interpretation and evaluation of the Turkish case is of course subjective, as is the assessment of the overall balance of possible advantages and disadvantages. However, one should always take into consideration the fact, that both Turkey and the EU will be very different in political, economic and demographic terms in 8-10 years' time, when the decision on Turkey's status vis-à-vis the EU will be most likely taken - provided that the EU accession talks continue and that they are concluded successfully.

Against this background, we put forward eight recommendations, which aim to ensure the success of future rounds of EU enlargement as a process that benefits both the current and future members of the European Union.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

1. Openness to enlarge beyond an EU-27 – but no additional accession perspectives before a review in 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> ibidem

The EU-27 should not close its doors to potential newcomers. The possibility of joining the EU must in principle remain open to all European states – even if the prospect of actual membership might in many cases seem to be very distant and even if the actual membership conditions and the sequencing of the process cannot be determined at present. Article 49 of the EU Treaty, which stipulates that any European state may apply to become member of the Union, must remain the guiding principle.

The prospect of EU membership is the Union's most effective vehicle for exporting stability and progress in its direct neighbourhood. The aspiration to join the EU provides the countries in the Union's geographic vicinity with a strong impetus to initiate or continue political, economic and social transformation. The membership incentive fosters the formation of stable democracies and the resolution of bilateral and intrastate conflicts. and enhances the adaptation of the candidate countries' economic and legal systems to broader European standards. If the EU denies the accession perspective to countries on its eastern and southeastern borders it will lose the capacity to function as an external anchor for stabilization and development. Without the vision of further enlargements beyond an EU-27, the Union would

deprive itself of the ability to profoundly influence political and economic developments in neighbouring European states in line with its own interests.

However, the EU should for the timebeing not accord any further binding accession offers beyond the countries of the Western Balkans (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia) and Turkey. Taking into account the increasing enlargement fatigue in the EU, the attribution of new commitments would unnecessarily exacerbate popular dissatisfaction with the Union's enlargement policy. Moreover, granting a binding prospect of EU membership would rob the European Union of one of its principal means of exerting pressure on states in its immediate neighbourhood at an unnecessarily early stage. Finally, new accession perspectives might lead to exaggerated hopes in the states aspiring to join the Union. Unfulfilled expectations could raise the level of frustration in the countries concerned and as an effect hamper their internal transformation process.

The European Union should set a clear date for another strategic review of the enlargement process. The year 2010 is the most appropriate given the planned 2008/2009 review of the budget which should prepare the EU not only for the new global challenges

but also for further enlargements. In addition, the fate of a new EU treaty will be clear by 2010 which should improve the circumstances for considering the granting of future accession perspectives.

# 2. Make the EU a success story and get the EU ready for further enlargements

EU enlargement will only continue if the Union prepares itself for further widening. If the European Union is lacking success and if it is institutionally, politically and economically unprepared, further enlargements will not take place. What needs to be done?

• The EU must improve its politicoinstitutional system. Further EU enlargement under the current Treaties is, at best, difficult to imagine but most likely simply impossible. For instance, decision-making in the EU-25 under the current rules is very complex and time-consuming. It would become a nightmare with the EU of 28 or more. In this context, the question of the Constitutional Treaty and its future fate is of particular relevance. Regardless of the form in which its substance might enter into force at some point in time, it would be without a doubt an important and welcome

development for the EU applicants. This, in turn, should make those EU members who are unwilling to support the Constitutional Treaty but, at the same time, are keen to pursue the enlargement policy to think about reconsidering their positions. Changes in the EU legal basis are a must. One may also consider inserting language on integration capacity in the new treaty so as to confirm that the Union must be ready to welcome new members.

• The EU needs to reform its expenditures. One of the pieces of the "enlargement puzzle" must be to ensure a brand-new model of the Community budget. Its current structure clearly fails to respond to the necessities of the knowledgebased and most dynamic economy in the world that the European Union aspires to become. Without this dynamism the Union will not be ready to engage in bold projects like its further enlargement. The overall budget should be significantly increased, since more and more European challenges need to be tackled on the Community level. The priorities of the budget must be changed. A lot more money needs to be allocated, for instance, to such areas like innovation policy or protection of the environment and the share of money allocated to the Common Agricultural Policy must be reduced. However, applicants need to be guaranteed that

they will not be left behind by the more economically developed EU members and that the spirit of solidarity will not be abandoned.

- The EU should exploit the potentials of "differentiated integration", which offers interesting opportunities for moving ahead with the process of deepening integration. The use of "variable geometry" might provide an answer to fears that further enlargement would "dilute" the Union. The "centre of gravity" should consist of countries, which are anchored in the eurozone, participate actively in the Common Foreign and Security Policy and are committed to closer Justice and Home Affairs integration. Obviously, the pre-condition for "differentiated integration" lies in ensuring clearly defined rules for entering into the deepened level of integration. Such circles must not become exclusive clubs, as this would certainly entail a creation of permanent divisions in the membership status and a de facto break-up of the Union as we know it.
- 3. Insist on "constructive ambiguity" concerning both Europe's boundaries and the time-frame for further enlargements

- The case for "constructive ambiguity" should be defended. It would be politically unwise to try to define both the "borders" of the EU and the time-perspective for future enlargements. The possibility of obtaining EU membership has been, so far, the Union's most efficient tool to stimulate changes in neighbouring European countries. There is no reason why the EU should now deprive itself of this instrument.
- · Concerning boundaries: Obviously, not all neighbouring countries (in the east and south-east of the continent) have a chance of ever becoming a member state. However, in the short and medium-term perspective, leaving the guestion "who's in and who's out" unanswered is perhaps the best possible recipe. In the longer term perspective, one can imagine who the possible newcomers might be: the current countries with a clear membership perspective, i.e. the Western Balkans and Turkey, a number of potential candidates, i.e. Ukraine, Moldova, Belarus, Georgia, Armenia or Azerbaijan, and obviously the EFTA members, i.e. Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway and Switzerland. Going beyond this circle to the East or South is unthinkable.
- Concerning the time-perspective: There should be no definition of a concrete timetable including a specific date of

entry for new member states. The final stages of the EU accession process of Bulgaria and Romania provided a case-study that the premature definition of an accession date has a counter-productive impact on the pace of reforms. It can effectively reduce the motivation to ensure a sufficient implementation of necessary legislation.

# 4. Win the hearts and minds of the public opinion for enlargement

Poor public opinion ratings are one of the key obstacles on the road to further enlargement. This factor has become even more significant as European integration can no longer afford to be an exclusively elite-driven project that can be managed without the support of its citizens. The 2006 Eurobarometer on attitudes of citizens towards EU enlargement indicates a lack of conviction that enlargement is a win-win situation, in particular as far as the economic and social aspects are concerned. What needs to be done in order to alter this negative perception?

 Portray the political and economic costs of non-enlargement and the benefits of further enlargements for both sides. Why is there for instance so little debate in Europe about the potential consequences if the Balkan states should choose to abandon the process of European integratio? Or what kind of strategic challenges will the EU have to face if Turkey turns its back on Europe? As far as the economic side is concerned, the business community needs to be further activated. It has a vested interest in reaching out to new consumers and enlarging the area of the internal market. So far it has remained fairly quiet. That needs to be changed.

 Overcome the unjustified fears and prejudices concerning the accession of new member states. The experience of the 2004 enlargement provides abundant evidence to support this case. No mass migration has occurred, and as a matter of fact migratory flows have rather been beneficial for the host countries (the United Kingdom in particular) as they compensated shortages on the labour market. The economies of the old EU-15 have largely profited from enlargement. There is no financial disaster on the horizon. And even if decision-making procedures in the EU are of less interest for its citizens, it is still worth highlighting that despite the difficulties and the pressing need for institutional changes, the EU did not collapse with the accession of ten new members.

 Overcome the lack of knowledge about the domestic situation in the states aspiring to join the EU. The key to success are youth exchange programmes, civil society dialogue as well as well-targeted and dynamic information campaigns carried out in close co-operation between the European Commission, the applicant states and the current EU members.

## 5. Candidate countries must be attractive

Compared to the previous wave of enlargement the countries now aspiring to join the EU will have to provide even more convincing arguments that their accession is not only in their own but also in the political and economic interest of the Union and its member states. The growing enlargement fatigue, a widespread general euro-scepticism, and the circumstance that the different accession countries are individually and as part of a certain region competing with other enlargement projects increases the pressure on every applicant country to demonstrate a high level of preparedness and willingness to join the club.

The individual success of internal economic, political and social reforms in the candidate countries will be the

most decisive factor for "persuading" the Union and its member states to further enlarge. Each country aspiring to join the Union will be judged on its own merits. Accession to the EU will not be driven by any historic momentum, which after the fall of the iron curtain had in many ways motivated the 2004 and 2007 rounds of enlargement. The better the political progress concerning the establishment of a stable democracy under the rule of law, the more effective the fight against corruption and organized crime, the more guaranteed the protection of human rights and minorities and the resolution of intrastate or statehood conflicts the higher the chances for joining the EU. On the economic side, the establishment of a functioning and competitive market economy in line with the Union's acquis communautaire, with high growth rates and strong inflows of direct investments from EU companies will provide compelling arguments against the opponents of further enlargement and secure the support of the business community.

Another way of convincing the European Union to open its doors for new member states is through the intensification of regional cooperation. Transnational projects in areas of particular interest for the EU and its member states like e.g., in the field of energy, internal security or infrastructure, will increase

the attractiveness of an entire region. Moreover, interstate cooperation between countries aiming to join the Union will prove the political willingness and functional ability of potential future EU countries to engage in intense transnational collaboration. Finally, regional cooperation will tie the participating applicant countries stronger together, which in return will strengthen the leverage *vis-à-vis* the EU and reduce the tendency of a "beauty contest" between candidate countries.

# 6. Learn the lessons of former candidate countries

A lot can be learned looking back at the countries which joined the EC/EU in previous rounds, in particular concerning three aspects: institutional and administrative capacity, alignment of domestic legal order with the *acquis* and information campaigns on Europe in the periods before and immediately after EU accession.

Current candidates and future potential candidates should very carefully analyse the coordination systems adopted by the recent entrants to the European Union and follow their best practices. Every country has its own administrative culture but generally single decision-making

centres help. It is also important for the EU integration objective to enjoy the highest political support with a hands-on engagement of the Prime Minister.

It is also very important to prepare a cost-benefit analysis of the respective fields in which compliance with EU legislation will be necessary. On that basis a national strategy should be drafted for approximation with the acquis communautaire. It should stipulate in which policy areas there will be a possibility of faster alignment and which will require a more evolutionary approach. Transition periods negotiated by the most recent entrants could provide an indication of the arrangements, which can be foreseen by current and future candidates.

The information campaigns on Europe are of crucial importance. On the one hand, they need to provide profound, factual information about the costs and benefits of the accession to the European Union in an attractive and user-friendly way. On the other, they cannot create a false impression that EU membership will immediately resolve all sorts of deeply-rooted economic or social problems which may have existed for decades. As for the campaign format, getting the support of the opinion-leaders from all walks of life, including popular culture and sports, is a key to success.

# 7. Exploit all potentials for cooperation

It is in the interest of the European Union and the states aspiring to join the EU to achieve the highest possible level of cooperation between both sides. The ties between the Union and the candidate countries should be intensified irrespective of the unforeseeable final result of the accession process. Cooperation should include in particular: (i) the field of foreign and security policy and the area of justice and home affairs, two policy fields which are of interest to both sides and particularly suitable due to their intergovernmental nature; (ii) economic cooperation based on concrete transnational and interregional projects in fields which are of interest to both sides including e.g., energy and infrastructure; (iii) strengthening of cultural and social ties, which allow not only the elites but also ordinary citizens to get acquainted with each other.

Close political, economic, social and cultural ties can function as strong motivators in the EU and in the candidate countries during a long and often cumbersome road to enlargement, as both sides benefit from the advantages of association already at an early stage. An intense relationship enhances the knowledge about each other, improves the understanding for the problems the other

side is facing, reduces the level of mutual distrust, and prepares the EU and the accession countries for the moment when new members actually join the Union.

The establishment of the closest possible ties between the EU and the countries aspiring to join the Union constitutes also a safety net in case the accession process fails – independent of whether the reasons for the failure originate in the EU or in a candidate state. Strong bonds between both sides will in this case be necessary to help secure the stability in the partner country, to avert a potential political clash between both sides and to re-define the relationship between the Union and the partner country.

Despite all the positive effects of cooperation, one should also be aware of the clear limitations of even the closest relationship between the EU and any candidate country. Historical experience has more than once proven that the institutions and the member states of the EU have always been very keen to prevent the involvement of non-EU countries in the Union's internal policymaking processes. As a consequence, ideas aiming at some sort of a partial EU membership e.g., in a specific policy area, might seem theoretically attractive. In practice, however, there are clear limits to alternative proposals beneath the level of full membership. This fact is

the reason why the countries aspiring to become EU member states are so reluctant when certain political forces propose forms of privileged partnership with the European Union.

#### 8. Don't succumb to frustration

Over the course of the accession process one will witness frustration in countries aspiring to enter the Union. Nobody is comfortable aspiring to join a club while at times feeling unwanted by its members. Frustration may lead to a slow-down in the reform process and to a decline in the level of public support for EU accession. It would be a big mistake to overlook these psychological aspects. What needs to be done?

Firstly, the applicant countries will require a lot of leadership and resolve to tackle the challenge. Political leaders will have to convince their domestic public that previous candidates also experienced "ups-and-downs" in terms of enthusiasm for EU integration. But at the end of the day, this did not halt the process. Temporary drops in public opinion surveys measuring the level of support for the process of EU accession should not discourage the governments from proceeding their reform agenda.

Secondly, the European Union and its member states need to be fair and balanced when dealing with the EU applicants. This particularly implies not to create any false expectations that accession is around the corner. As a matter of fact, making a badly timed or simply premature membership promise might cause serious, sometimes even irreparable damage. False promises can decrease the public level of support for EU integration in the applicant countries. In the current EU states overhasty membership promises might lead to the suspicion that the enlargement standards are watered down and this could increase the reluctance towards the very idea of continuing the process of enlargement. Having said that, it is at least equally importantly that the European Union and its member states adhere to the promises given to the applicant countries ("pacta sunt servanda") and avoid political actions and rhetoric that are counter-productive to the accession process. The credibility of the European Union is at stake. Its clout on the international scene would be severely damaged should the EU or individual member states unilaterally decide to retreat from enlargementrelated decisions and promises that were made in the past.

December 2006

demosEUROPA – Centre for European **Strategy** is an international, non-partisan, policy-oriented research institution which aims to provide answers to the challenges facing the European Union, its Member States and the citizens. It is a forum for ideas about the political, social and economic dimension of European integration and international relations. One of its key objectives is to promote an active, engaged and unequivocally pro-European role of Poland as a Member State. The activity of demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy is based on the belief that only by being at the heart of Europe, will Poland best serve the interests of its business community and citizens.

demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy publishes policy papers and reports formulated on the basis of interactive discussions, conferences and seminars.

demosEUROPA – Centre for European Strategy ul. C. Śniegockiej 10/12 00–430 Warsaw, Poland

tel.: + 48 601 888 929

e-mail: demoseuropa@demoseuropa.eu

http: www.demoseuropa.eu

#### Partner



Center for Applied Policy Research

### demosEUROPA - Centre for European Strategy

ul. C. Śniegockiej 10/12

00-430 Warsaw

Poland

Tel: + 48 601 888 929

E-mail: demoseuropa@demoseuropa.eu

http: www.demoseuropa.eu